





Self-care competency framework

Volume 2. Knowledge guide for health and care workers to support people's self-care







Self-care competency framework

Volume 2. Knowledge guide for health and care workers to support people's self-care

Self-care competency framework. Volume 2. Knowledge guide for health and care workers to support people's self-care

(Self-care competency framework. Volume 1. Global competency standards for health and care workers to support people's self-care – Volume 2. Knowledge guide for health and care workers to support people's self-care – Volume 3. Curriculum guide for health and care workers to support people's self-care)

ISBN 978-92-4-007744-7 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-007745-4 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo</u>).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (<u>http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/</u>).

Suggested citation. Self-care competency framework. Volume 1. Global competency standards for health and care workers to support people's self-care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (Self-care competency framework). Licence: <u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO</u>.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see <u>https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders</u>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <u>https://www.who.int/copyright</u>.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Design and layout: Lushomo

Photo credits

Cover: © WHO/Jyrgalan Page x: © WHO/Maren Shapiro Page 1: © WHO/Geri Sirk Page 5: © Jonathan Torgovnik/Getty Images/Images of Empowerment Page 6: © WHO Page 20: © WHO/Panos/Atul Loke Page 28: © WHO

Contents

Prefaceiv
Acknowledgementsvi
Glossaryvii
The self-care competency framework: at a glanceix
Chapter 1. Introduction1
Principles and conceptual framework1
Aims of the competency standards
Development of the self-care competency framework4
How to use this document
Chapter 2. Six domains of competency standards6
Domain I: People-centredness
Domain II: Decision-making
Domain III: Communication
Domain IV: Collaboration
Domain V: Evidence-based practice
Domain VI: Personal conduct
Chapter 3. Explanatory notes for the 10 competency standards20
Competency standard 1: Promotes self-care by individuals, caregivers, families and their communities
Competency standard 2: Provides people-centred support for self-care by individuals, caregivers and families21 Competency standard 3: Takes an adaptive and collaborative approach to decision-making about self-care
by individuals
Competency standard 4: Communicates effectively with individuals, caregivers and families
Competency standard 5: Collaborates with other health and care workers and community workers to support self-care
Competency standard 6: Promotes trust, agency and collaboration among individuals, caregivers and families with regard to self-care
Competency standard 7: Supports evidence-informed self-care practice by individuals, caregivers and families25
Competency standard 8: Demonstrates high standards of ethical conduct
Competency standard 9: Undertakes reflective learning and practice about self-care
Competency standard 10: Manages own health and well-being
References

Preface

Il people have the fundamental right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health. Yet at the midpoint of the agenda for the Sustainable Development Goals, billions of people lack access to essential health services. There are about 90 million displaced persons and a perennial shortage of health workers in countries at all levels of socioeconomic development. There is a dire need for innovative strategies for health systems to address this challenge. Improving access to self-care interventions is one strategy to enable people to have a more engaged role in managing their own health, with the supervision of a health or care worker.

The WHO guideline on self-care interventions for health and well-being outlines the critical pathway that self-care interventions provide to reach universal health coverage. Self-care interventions span the spectrum of health promotion, diagnostics, disease and injury prevention, management and care. In many cases, self-care interventions can be safely administered to improve the management of one's own health with the support or supervision of a trained health worker.

This publication consolidates the evidence base and translates the WHO guideline on self-care interventions for health and well-being into the Self-care competency framework, published in three parts:

Volume 1

The **competency standards** define the competencies of health and care workers – and the specific behaviours that demonstrate them – for providing self-care in their practice. They focus on holistic health care, human rights, ethical practice, care through the life course and gender equity. They are framed by an ethos of social and professional accountability to improve health care for all. They serve as a standard for how health and care workers can support people with their self-care.

Volume 2

The **knowledge guide** describes how health and care workers can apply the competency standards to their practice, detailing the necessary knowledge, skills and attitudes that underpin these behaviours.

Volume 3

The curriculum guide is to be used by educational institutions and curriculum developers to develop competency-based education and training for health and care workers, including reflection on their personal conduct, so they can effectively support people's self-care.

iv \equiv

The Self-care competency framework has been jointly developed by the World Health Organization (WHO) Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research and the WHO Health Workforce Department to guide the development of health worker education programmes in national settings. It is intended to enable health and care workers to develop the competencies to support individuals, families and communities in making evidence-based decisions and taking action to manage their own health and the health of those in their care.

The Self-care competency framework clarifies the role of the health system, health-care facilities and health and care workers in supporting and supervising selfcare interventions for health and well-being, and guides curriculum developers to update and integrate the competency standards into their educational curricula. This can lead to establishing appropriate strategies and tools to support people's self-care throughout life, leading to better health outcomes. We invite countries, health and care worker education institutions and employers to integrate these standards into education and practice, and to support and invest in a health and care workforce that is competent to provide people-centred, quality, evidencebased health services, including a focus on communication, collaboration and support for decision-making relevant to the use of self-care interventions, on the path towards universal health coverage.

Pascale Allotey, Director, WHO Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research (SRH), including the UNDP-UNFPA-UNICEF-WHO-World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP)

Bilty

James Campbell, Director of WHO Health Workforce Department (HWF)

Mu Campbeen.



Pascale Allotey



James Campbell

v \equiv

Acknowledgements

he World Health Organization (WHO) gratefully acknowledges the contributions of many individuals and organizations to the development of these three interlinked documents: Volume 1 – Global competency standards, Volume 2 – Knowledge guide and Volume 3 – Curriculum guide.

Special thanks are due to the **external contributors and writing team**, Christine Phillips, Louise Stone and Katrina Anderson, from the Social Foundations of Medicine Program and the Academic Unit of General Practice, at the Australian National University's School of Medicine and Psychology.

WHO extends sincere thanks to the members of the Technical Advisory Group: Kaosar Afsana (BRAC University, Bangladesh), Asmaa Al-Haqan (Kuwait University, Kuwait), Jill Benson (University of Adelaide, Australia), Rachid Bezad (Mohammed V University, Morocco), Andreia Bruno-Tome (International Pharmaceutical Federation), Ying-Tsun Chen (International Pharmaceutical Federation), Michalina Drejza (International Youth Alliance for Family Planning), Uwemedimo Uko Esiet (Action Health International, Nigeria), Judy Ngele Khanyola (University of Global Health Equity, Rwanda), Gunta Lazdane (Riga Stradins University, Latvia), Patricia Mahecha (Community Alliances and Networks, Canada), Ade Prastyani (University of Gadjah Mada, Indonesia), Stewart Sutherland (Australian National University, Australia) and Jennifer Yang (Philippine General Hospital, Philippines).

WHO also extends sincere thanks to the members of the **External Review Group**: Lars Åke-Söderlund (International Pharmaceutical Federation), Dalia Baijas (International

Pharmaceutical Federation), Ian Bates (University College London, United Kingdom), Faysal El-Kak (American University Beirut, Lebanon), Austen El-Osta (Imperial College London, United Kingdom), Hussein Jafri (World Patients Alliance), Neena Khanna (All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi), Mona Loutfy (University of Toronto, Canada), Fatoumata Nafo (Foundation for Health and Environment, Mali), Anak Agung Sagung Sawitri (Udayana University, Indonesia), Nyoman Sutarsa (Australian National University, Australia), Wim Van Lerberghe (independent consultant, Belgium) and Audrey Wong (International Pharmaceutical Students Federation).

The following **WHO staff** provided valuable input at various stages of the development of these documents: Oleg Kuzmenko (WHO Regional Office for Europe), Karima Gholbzouri (WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean Region), Rodolfo Gomez (WHO Regional Office for the Americas/PAHO), Ann-Beth Moller (WHO Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research), Olumuyiwa Adesanya Ojo (WHO Country Office Nigeria), Leopold Ouedraogo (WHO Regional Office for Africa), Meera Thapa Upadhyay (WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia), Qudsia Uzma (WHO Country Office Pakistan) and Tana Wuliji (WHO Health Workforce Department).

Overall coordination was provided by Manjulaa Narasimhan (WHO Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research), in close collaboration with Siobhan Fitzpatrick (WHO Health Workforce Department).

Funding was provided by the UNDP-UNFPA-UNICEF-WHO-World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP), and the Children's Investment Fund Foundation.

vi 🗏

Glossary

Behaviour	Observable conduct towards other people or tasks that expresses a competency. Behaviours are measurable in the performance of tasks (1).
Caregiver	A person entrusted with the care of a person with an illness or disability, a child, or a person with diminished decision-making capacity. Caregivers may be family members, volunteers or paid workers.
Care worker	Care workers provide direct personal care services in the home, in health-care and residential settings, assisting with routine tasks of daily life, and performing a variety of other tasks of a simple and routine nature (2).
Competence	The state of proficiency of a person to perform the required practice activities to the defined standard. This incorporates having the requisite competencies to do this in a given context. Competence is multidimensional and dynamic. It changes with time, experience and setting (1).
Competencies	The abilities of a person to integrate knowledge, skills and attitudes in their performance of tasks in a given context. Competencies are durable, trainable and, through the expression of behaviours, measurable (1).
Health literacy	The personal knowledge and competencies (mediated by organizational structures and availability of resources) that enable people to access, understand, appraise and use information and services to promote and maintain good health and well-being for themselves and those around them (3). Health literacy encompasses health systems literacy as well as functional literacy and numeracy.
Health worker	Any person engaged in actions whose primary intent is to enhance health (4).
Reflexivity	The ability to reflect on the impacts of our background and assumptions on the development of taken-for-granted knowledge (5).
Self-awareness	The ability of individuals, families and communities to promote their their health and self-efficacy through self-regulation, self-education and self-determination (6).
Self-care	The ability of individuals, families and communities to promote health, prevent disease, maintain health, and to cope with illness and disability with or without the support of a health worker (6).
Self-care interventions	Tools which support self-care. Self-care interventions include evidence-based, good-quality medicines, devices, diagnostics and/or digital technologies which can be provided fully or partially outside of formal health services and can be used with or without the support of a health worker (6).
Self-efficacy	An individual's belief in his or her capacity to execute behaviours necessary to produce specific performance attainment (7).
Self- management	The ability to use devices, medicines and knowledge to undertake self-medication, self- treatment, self-examination, self-injection (6).
Self-testing	The ability to use devices and knowledge to undertake self-testing, self-sampling, self- monitoring and self-diagnosis (6).

vii 🗮

Glossary references

- Global competency framework for universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352710</u>).
- Classifying health workers: mapping occupations to the international standard classification. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (<u>https://www.who.int/</u> <u>publications/m/item/classifying-health-workers</u>).
- Health promotion glossary of terms 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (<u>https://apps.who.int/</u> iris/handle/10665/350161).
- Working together for health: the world health report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43432</u>).
- 5. Dawson J, Laccos-Barrett K, Hammond C, Rumbold A. Reflexive practice as an approach to improve

healthcare delivery for Indigenous peoples: a systematic critical synthesis and exploration of the cultural safety education literature. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022;19(11):6691. doi:10.3390/ ijerph19116691.

- Classification of self-care interventions for health: a shared language to describe the uses of self-care interventions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/350480</u>).
- Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psych Rev. 1977;84(2):191–215. doi:10.1037//0033-295x.84.2.191.

The self-care competency framework: at a glance

The Self-care competency framework, jointly developed by the WHO Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research and the Health Workforce Department, aims to guide health worker education programmes. It enables health and care workers to develop the competencies necessary for supporting individuals, families and communities in making evidence-based decisions and taking action to manage their own health and the health of those they care for. The framework comprises three separate, but interlinked documents:

Volume 1Global competency standards for
health and care workers to support people's self-careVolume 2Knowledge guide for health and care
workers to support people's self-careVolume 3Curriculum guide for health and care
workers to support people's self-care

Volume 1



Defines the competencies of health and care workers (including specific behaviours) for providing self-care.

- Focuses on holistic health care, human rights, ethical practice, care through the life course and gender equity.
- Framed by an ethos of social and professional accountability to improve health care for all.
 - Serves as a standard for how health and care workers can support people with their self-care.

↓ ↓

Volume 2

Beglf-care competency framework Volume 2 – Knowledge guide for health and care workers to support people's self-care



Describes how health and care workers can apply the competency standards to their practice.

Applied to:

Details the necessary knowledge, skills and attitudes that underpin these behaviours.

Links to:

Volume 3

î



Volume 3 – Curriculum guide for health and care workers to support people's self-care



A resource for educational institutions and curriculum developers to develop competency-based education and training for health and care workers.

Includes reflection on their personal conduct, so they can effectively support people's self-care.

ix 🗏



Chapter 1. Introduction

Self-care is the ability of individuals, families and communities to promote health, prevent disease, maintain health, and to cope with illness and disability. Self-care complements, supplements and extends traditional health care in the health-care facility setting. Achieving universal health coverage (UHC) for all requires strong health systems, with a competent health workforce supporting individuals, families and communities to undertake self-care. While self-care can be undertaken independent of a health or care worker, for many self-care interventions, the support of health or care workers will be needed to facilitate effective self-care.

The competency standards for health and care workers to support people's self-care (hereafter referred to as the competency standards) are designed to outline the minimum behaviour standards and evidence-based clinical standards for health workers to support people's ability to undertake self-care. The competency standards are presented in Volume 1 of this set of documents (1). They align with the structure of the WHO *Global competency framework for universal health coverage (2)*.

This knowledge guide describes how health workers can apply the competency standards to their practice. For each of the 10 competency standards and for the specific behaviours relevant to each of them, this document examines in detail the knowledge, skills and attitudes that are foundational to the stated behaviours. The competency standards are the benchmark for health workers to support people's self-care. The knowledge guide forms the basis for the curriculum guide (3) – another separate volume in this set of documents – which is to be used in training health and care workers.

Principles and conceptual framework

The competency standards are based on the conceptual framework (Fig. 1) of the *WHO guideline on self-care interventions for health and well-being (4)*. They focus

on holistic health care, human rights, ethical practice, care through the life course and gender equity. The competency standards are framed by an ethos

1 Ξ

of social and professional accountability by health and care workers to improve health care for all.

Self-care interventions can be classified as self-management, self-testing and self-awareness, as elaborated in Fig. 2, which also illustrates where self-care sits in the intersection between health systems and "everyday life". Self-awareness interventions are typically considered to be outside the normal work of health-service providers, although they can help to promote better health and thus support health systems. Self-testing interventions are often performed by selfcarers, sometimes independently of health or care workers, and sometimes in collaboration with health or care workers and/or caregivers. Self-management interventions generally require the support of health workers who collaborate with the self-carer.

Figure 1: Conceptual framework for self-care interventions



2 =

Figure 2: Self-care in the context of interventions linked to health systems

HEALTH SYSTEMS	
SELF-CARE	
SELF-MANAGEMENT Self-medication, self-treatment, self-examination, self-injection, self-administration, self-use	
SELF-TESTING Self-sampling, self-screening, self-diagnosis, self- collection, self-monitoring	
SELF-AWARENESS Self-help, self-education, self-regulation, self- efficacy, self-determination	
EVERYDAY LIFE	

Source: WHO, 2022 (4).

Aims of the competency standards

The competency standards are intended to be used:

- to serve as a standard for how health and care workers can support self-care among the people they are in contact with as health and care workers;
- to guide health system administrators on how and what behaviours should be promoted among health and care workers who are in contact with people to improve support of self-care;
- to guide educational institutions and curriculum developers when developing competency-based education for health and care workers to support the self-care of people they are in contact with as health and care workers.

The competencies and behaviours in the competency standards are organized under six key domains.

Domain I:	People-centredness
Domain II:	Decision-making
Domain III:	Communication
Domain IV:	Collaboration
Domain V:	Evidence-informed practice
Domain VI:	Personal conduct

For each domain, competencies and behaviours relevant to the support of self-care are specified. The competency standards focus on behaviours that are specific and measurable, noting that behaviours are underpinned by knowledge, skills and attitudes that are developed interdependently and over time.

3 ≡

While the behaviours associated with each competency standard are designed to be sufficiently broad to be applied across different health systems and countries, there is scope for behaviours to be tailored to specific settings. For example, in disaster-affected settings, where health systems are fragile or overburdened, there is often an urgent need for people to undertake self-care. The competency standards can be adapted to highlight the competencies and behaviours health and care workers need to support people to initiate or increase self-care.

Development of the self-care competency framework

The development of the self-care competency framework – including the competency standards (1), knowledge guide (this document) and curriculum guide (3) – was informed and guided by the framing and conceptual and taxonomy development undertaken by the WHO Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research (5–7). The related guidance has been published as the WHO guideline on self-care interventions for health and well-being (4), originally developed as the WHO consolidated guideline on self-care interventions

for health: sexual and reproductive health and rights (8).

Expert advice was provided by the Technical Advisory Group, which comprised experts in health care, health systems, and health of priority groups. The Technical Advisory Group reviewed the draft knowledge guide to ensure relevance and applicability for health and care workers and communities in a wide range of settings and countries.

How to use this document

Behaviours are the observable, measurable components of performance, encompassing knowledge, skills and attitudes (KSA). Attitudes most closely relate to motivation to perform behaviours, while knowledge provides the informational basis for tasks, and skills are the higher-order application, analysis, evaluation and creation of knowledge. Therefore, the presence or absence of KSA can be inferred from the presence or absence of the behaviours associated with the competency and the tasks.

The KSA can be customized for different cadres of health and care workers, taking into consideration their level or area of responsibility, the local setting and the health system. An example is presented in Box 1, for self-care in managing contraception.

4 ≡

Box 1: Contraception self-care in a low-resource community – an example of self-care competencies

Amina lives in a remote, low-resource community setting. The primary health clinic is staffed with four experienced community health workers and a nurse. Amina comes in for a postnatal check after her third baby and expresses an interest in family planning; she would like to space her children out more effectively. Amina is breastfeeding and previously had an ectopic pregnancy while using an intrauterine device (IUD).

How could different health worker cadres demonstrate Competency standard 1.5 – "Supports the individual, their caregiver and their family to access and continue using self-care interventions, taking into account individual, social and system-level barriers"?

• A community health worker may demonstrate this behaviour by assessing the challenges, constraints and enabling factors that Amina may face in choosing and using an effective and appropriate family planning method. For example, it may be difficult for her to purchase her chosen method in her local community, and the clinic may not dispense her chosen method. In addition, the community health worker may be aware of cultural barriers to using particular contraceptive methods.

- A nurse at the clinic may demonstrate this behaviour by individualizing their advice on self-care, considering the barriers mentioned above. The nurse may also take into consideration the medical and personal context. For example, the nurse may support Amina in considering a contraceptive implant, and if so, consider the specific cultural and social constraints to this choice.
- A health services manager may demonstrate this behaviour by assessing this clinic's structural barriers to contraceptive choice. For example, the health manager may identify failures in the continuity of supply for short-acting contraceptive injections or oral contraceptives, or limited expertise or experience among health workers of the procedures for some contraceptive devices, such as implants and IUDs.





Chapter 2. Six domains of competency standards

Domain I: People-centredness



Competency standard 1:

Promotes self-care by individuals, caregivers, families and their communities

Behaviours

Knowledge, skills and attitudes

1.1 – Supports the individual to adapt options for self-care interventions, taking into account their personal situation, community, environment, gender, age, life stage and the health system

Knowledge

- Outlines a range of self-care interventions relevant to individuals' specific health needs
- Describes the physical and cognitive capabilities required for individuals to use different self-care interventions
- Identifies a range of illnesses and conditions which can be managed through particular self-care interventions

Skills

• Practices a variety of approaches to adapt self-care interventions to suit individual needs and characteristics

Attitudes

• Respectfully acknowledges the uniqueness of each individual when supporting self-care

6 🗏

Behaviours	Solution Knowledge, skills and attitudes
1.2 – Supports ongoing adjustment of self-care interventions, taking into account fluctuations in the individual's physical and mental health and their health-care needs	 Knowledge Describes the impacts of fluctuations in physical and mental health on self-care practices Identifies tools and mechanisms needed to assess an individual's ability to use self-care interventions, in the presence of complex, fluctuating health needs
	SkillsResponds to the self-care needs of the individual, taking into consideration the characteristics and course of their illness
	 Attitudes Demonstrates motivation to support and adjust self-care interventions, taking into consideration the changing impacts of illness on the individual
1.3 – Supports the development of health literacy in relation to self-care (see Chapter 3 for explanatory notes)	 Knowledge Outlines components of health literacy, including functional literacy and numeracy, necessary to access, understand, appraise and apply information to make effective decisions about health and self-care Describes specific elements of health literacy and health systems literacy that are needed to practise effective self-care in a range of settings and for different health conditions
	 Skills Evaluates the health literacy and health systems literacy of the individual, caregiver and family member(s), as relevant to the individual's self-care
	 Attitudes Responds without judgement to the expressed levels of health literacy of individuals, caregivers and family members Demonstrates motivation to support the development of health literacy of individuals, caregivers and family members
1.4 – Identifies self-care interventions that have been previously undertaken by the individual, their caregiver, family and community	 Knowledge Outlines self-care interventions that may have been undertaken by individuals for a range of conditions in the local context
	 Skills Clarifies which self-care interventions have been undertaken by the individual, their caregivers or their family members for particular conditions
	 Attitudes Maintains attitude of respectful inquiry about self-care interventions nominated by the individual, their caregiver or family members Shows curiosity about community norms and practices relating to self-care interventions for specific conditions

(Ø
	ר ו

Behaviours

1.5 – Supports the individual, their caregiver and their family to access and continue using self-care interventions, taking into account individual, social and system-level barriers

\mathcal{N} Knowledge, skills and attitudes

Knowledge

- Articulates the universal right to health
- Identifies social and system-level barriers that may constrain access to and continuation of self-care interventions for the individual in the local context

Skills

• Provides care that supports the individual to overcome barriers to accessing quality self-care interventions, where possible

Attitudes

• Fosters the ability of the person to access quality self-care interventions in support of their universal right to health

1.6 – Demonstrates an awareness of the risk of harm that can be linked to self-care practices, including violence, coercion, stigma, discrimination and harassment, which reflect institutional, cultural, gender and racial biases

Knowledge

• Articulates the range of harms an individual may face when seeking to engage in self-care in the local setting – including discrimination, stigma, violence and coercion

Skills

• Identifies and seeks to mitigate risks faced by the individual, their caregiver and/or family members when accessing and using self-care interventions

Attitudes

• Supports safe access to self-care interventions for individuals, caregivers and families.

 \equiv

8



Competency standard 2:

Provides people-centred support for self-care by individuals, caregivers and families

Beha	iviou

aviours

Knowledge, skills and attitudes

2.1 - Ascertains each

individual's priorities for self-care interventions, taking into account physical, psychological, social and emotional factors, including issues of intra-familial agency and power

Knowledge

• Describes ethical principles of autonomy, self-determination and agency

Skills

 Ω

- Identifies the individual's priorities for self-care interventions, taking into consideration social, emotional and psychological factors
- · Identifies an individual's priorities in the context of multimorbidity

Attitudes

- Demonstrates respect for the autonomy, self-determination and agency of individuals
- · Values individuals' priorities for self-care interventions

2.2 – Demonstrates awareness and sensitivity about the ways in which beliefs and values, as well as legal, gender, financial and cultural considerations may impact upon an individual's selfcare choices and practices Knowledge

• Identifies ways gendered, legal, financial and cultural considerations may intersect to impact upon an individual's self-care choices and practices

Skills

• Models cultural and gender sensitivity in supporting an individual to choose and use self-care interventions

Attitudes

• Recognizes intersectional impacts of different factors (e.g. age, race, class, gender, disability) on self-care choices and practices

2.3 – Identifies vulnerabilities of individuals, caregivers and families with respect to financial exploitation linked to the consumption of self-care products

Knowledge

• Identifies the ways in which individuals, caregivers and families may be at risk of exploitation in relation to self-care

Skills

- · Communicates risks of financial exploitation
- Supports individuals to prevent financial exploitation in relation to self-care products

Attitudes

• Demonstrates sensitivity to the vulnerabilities of individuals, caregivers and families to financial exploitation in relation to self-care

Domain II: Decision-making



Competency standard 3:

Takes an adaptive and collaborative approach to decision-making about self-care by individuals

Behaviours	S Knowledge, skills and attitudes
3.1 – Supports the individual to make informed decisions about using self-testing and self- management tools and devices, including medication, monitoring technologies and home-based testing	 Knowledge Categorizes self-testing and self-management tools and devices that are relevant for particular diseases and conditions
	 Skills Undertakes needs assessment with the individual for self-care interventions Determines with the individual which tools and devices are relevant to meet their self-care needs
	AttitudesMaintains openness to learning about self-testing and self-management tools and devices
3.2 – Ensures self-care decision- making is supported by the individual's nominated substitute decision-maker in situations where the individual's decision-making capacity is reduced or fluctuates	 Knowledge Describes the criteria that would indicate that an individual does or does not have capacity for decision-making Outlines the functions of a substitute decision-maker
	 Skills Determines the decision-making capacity of the individual, recognizing that this may vary in different contexts and for different types of decisions Collaborates with the nominated substitute decision-maker to ensure self-care decisions are in the best interests of the individual
	 Attitudes Balances respect for self-determination with assurance of safety in decision-making in situations where capacity may be reduced or fluctuate

10 =



Behaviours

3.3 – Supports the individual to identify goals and desired outcomes of effective and acceptable self-care, including through digital self-care

Knowledge, skills and attitudes

Knowledge

 Outlines elements of shared decision-making for self-care including goal-setting and identifying desired outcomes

Skills

 $\mathcal{R}^{\mathbf{Y}}$

• Integrates shared decision-making, including goal-setting and individually-determined desired outcomes, into consultations about self-care

Attitudes

Knowledge

• Prioritizes the individual's goals and desired outcomes when supporting them to undertake self-care interventions

3.4 – Anticipates and collaboratively plans for the individual's changing needs for self-testing and selfmanagement tools throughout the continuum of care

Skills

• Plans for changes in self-care needs along the continuum of care, as appropriate for specific acute and chronic illnesses

Outlines the continuum of care in relation to self-care needs

Attitudes

• Proactively anticipates future changes in people's self-care needs as relevant to their specific illnesses and conditions

3.5 – Demonstrates respect for **Knowledge**

the individual's decision not to · Describes ethical principles of autonomy, agency and self-determination undertake self-testing and self-Skills management · Demonstrates openness to an individual's decision to decline self-care interventions · Where possible, provides safe alternatives to self-care interventions if the individual declines self-care Attitudes · Respects each person's autonomy to decline self-care interventions · Maintains an ongoing commitment to providing safe health care if the individual declines self-care interventions 3.6 - Supports informed consent for Knowledge self-care activities · Outlines the principles of informed consent, including for minors, taking into account relevant legislation Skills · Appraises the individual's ability to provide informed consent to selfcare interventions, including minors and people with cognitive or other impairments

Attitudes

Values autonomy in decision-making

11 =



Behaviours

3.7 – Provides informed advice to support the individual's decisionmaking about self-care interventions particularly where evidence is limited

Knowledge, skills and attitudes

Knowledge

· Identifies areas where evidence on self-care interventions is limited

Skills

B

• Compares self-care intervention options in terms of their safety and potential intended and unintended impacts

Attitudes

 Recognizes one's clinical responsibility to provide informed advice on self-care interventions for which the evidence base may still be developing

Domain III: Communication



Competency standard 4:

Communicates effectively with individuals, caregivers and families

Behaviours	SP Knowledge, skills and attitudes
 4.1 – Uses appropriate verbal and non-verbal communication methods to support self-care, including the use of interpreters where appropriate 4.2 – Uses a non-judgemental and open communication style 4.3 – Uses appropriate visual, language and literacy communication aids 	KnowledgeOutlines situations where interpreters should be engagedDescribes types of communication aids
	 Skills Works effectively with interpreters in person and remotely Uses appropriate communication aids Communicates clearly, without medical jargon Attitudes Responds receptively to the individual's need for communication assistance Demonstrates willingness to collaborate with interpreters and cultural mediators Strives to use clear, non-technical language Respects the role of the interpreter
4.4 – Uses communication approaches that address motivation and support the self-efficacy of the individual, their caregiver and family	 Knowledge Describes communication approaches that address motivation and support self-efficacy Describes the stages of change in adopting a new behaviour (see Chapter 3 for explanatory notes) Skills Demonstrates the ability to undertake a consultation to assess and address the individual's motivation and self-efficacy Attitudes Appreciates the importance of the individual's motivation to undertake self-care Supports self-efficacy of individuals



Behaviours

4.5 – Uses a range of verbal and practical techniques to ensure that the individual, their caregiver or family can use and respond to self-testing and self-management tools

Knowledge, skills and attitudes

Knowledge

- Outlines a range of communication techniques to support self-testing and self-management, such as teach-back and paced instruction (see Chapter 3 for explanatory notes about these techniques)
- Describes the level of functional literacy needed to use particular selftesting and self-management tools
- Describes the level of functional numeracy needed to use particular self-testing and self-management tools

Skills

- · Assesses the individual's functional numeracy and literacy
- Demonstrates the ability to use teach-back for self-testing and selfmanagement tools
- Demonstrates the ability to use paced instruction for self-testing and self-management tools

Attitudes

- Maintains a non-judgemental attitude towards a person's level of functional literacy and numeracy
- Responds flexibly to the needs of individuals, caregivers and families for different learning/communication methods used to explain and support self-care (e.g. wording or examples are tailored to the local context, visual aids are adapted appropriately)

Domain IV: Collaboration



Competency standard 5:

Collaborates with other health and care workers and community workers to support self-care

Behaviours	S Knowledge, skills and attitudes
5.1 – Shares support regarding self-management, self-testing and self-awareness with other	 Knowledge Outlines benefits of working with other health and care workers and community workers on self-care
health and care workers and community workers	SkillsWorks collaboratively with other health and care workers and community workers to support self-care
	AttitudesValues the diverse skill sets of other health and care workers and community workers to support self-management, self-testing and self-awareness
5.2 – Refers to other health or community services that can support self-management, self-testing and self-awareness	KnowledgeIdentifies a range of health and community services that can support self-care
	 Skills Navigates between relevant health and community services to source appropriate support for self-care Uses social prescribing (see Chapter 3 for explanatory notes)
	AttitudesActively maintains and updates the networks of health and community services that support self-care

åů

Competency standard 6:

Promotes trust, agency and collaboration among individuals, caregivers and families with regard to self-care

Behaviours	Knowledge, skills and attitudes
6.1 – Encourages and supports the individual to use their own social and community networks to support their self-care	 Knowledge Describes social and community networks that can support self-care needs for different health conditions Outlines the benefits for an individual of using their own social and community networks to support self-care
	 Skills Identifies the individual's social and community networks relevant to their self-care needs for their specific health condition(s) Collaboratively appraises the suitability of the individual's social and community networks for supporting their self-care
	AttitudesFosters effective engagement between the individual and their social and community networks to support their self-care
6.2 – Refers the individual to peer support opportunities to support their self-care, as needed	 Knowledge Outlines a range of relevant peer support opportunities for different health conditions and self-care needs
	SkillsSupports the individual to engage with peer support opportunities, as needed
	AttitudesFosters effective engagement with peer support opportunities
6.3 – Refers families and caregivers to appropriate services to help them support the individual with their self- care	 Knowledge Outlines the benefits of support opportunities for the caregivers and families of individuals needing support for their self-care
	 Skills Identifies relevant support opportunities for the individual's caregiver(s) and family, in relation to supporting self-care
	AttitudesAppreciates the value of the tailored support opportunities available for caregivers and families, in relation to supporting self-care

Domain V: Evidence-based practice



Competency standard 7:

Supports evidence-informed self-care practice by individuals, caregivers and families

Behaviours	S Knowledge, skills and attitudes
7.1 – Integrates current best available evidence into advice and communications with the individual, their caregiver and family about self-care interventions	 Knowledge Identifies a range of evidence-informed sources of information about self- care interventions and practices
	SkillsApplies evidence-informed guidelines, standards and tools appropriately
	Attitudes
	Values and promotes evidence-informed practice
7.2 – Promotes the ability of individuals to access and apply reliable, evidence-based information about self-care, including information from the internet	 Knowledge Describes a range of evidence-based sources of information about self-care for individuals Outlines the components of digital health literacy Skills Refers individuals to reliable sources of information about self-care
	Evaluates a person's digital health literacy
	Attitudes Encourages the use of reliable information
7.3 – Identifies, discusses and challenges misinformation about self-care	KnowledgeDefines and contrasts disinformation and misinformation
	SkillsIdentifies instances of misinformation about self-careContests and challenges misinformation
	AttitudesAdvocates against the use of unreliable information

Domain VI: Personal conduct

Competency standard 8: Demonstrates high standards of ethical conduct	
Behaviours	S Knowledge, skills and attitudes
8.1 – Upholds legal and ethical principles relevant to self-care, including confidentiality, conflict of interest, duty of care, dignity, privacy and safeguarding the best interests of individuals	KnowledgeArticulates legal and ethical principles relevant to self-care
	SkillsBehaves in ways consistent with legal and ethical principles relevant to self-care
	AttitudesValues and reflects upon legal and ethical principles relevant to self-care
8.2 – Consults with others (e.g. peers, other health or care workers) in situations when ethical concerns arise with regard to self-care	KnowledgeOutlines a range of situations in which ethical concerns may arise in relation to self-care
	 Skills Consults with others (e.g. peers, other health or care workers) when in need of ethical advice
	 Attitudes Recognizes complex situations that may give rise to ethical concerns relating to self-care Values collegial advice



Competency standard 9:

Undertakes reflective learning and practice about self-care

Behaviours	S Knowledge, skills and attitudes
9.1 – Seeks to address any negative impact of their own attitudes, behaviours and gaps in knowledge or skills	 Knowledge Describes the concept of reflexivity (see Glossary for definition, and Chapter 3 for explanatory notes)
	Skills • Applies reflexivity to personal practice, to avoid expressing bias, insensitivity or cultural judgement • Identifies gaps in one's own knowledge or skills Attitudes • Recognizes one's own potential cultural and other biases • Recognizes the limits of one's own experience and knowledge
9.2 – Demonstrates continued commitment to ongoing learning about self-care interventions and practices	Knowledge • Advocates for continuing education to improve self-care Skills • Assesses ongoing learning needs relevant to self-care interventions and practices • Undertakes continuing education to learn about self-care interventions
	AttitudesValues continuing education about self-care



Behaviours

Knowledge, skills and attitudes

10.1 – Engages in one's own selfcare practice to maintain one's own health, emotional well-being and resilience

Knowledge

• Describes self-care practices to build resilience

Skills

- · Identifies self-care practices suited to one's own needs
- · Identifies circumstances in which one would use these self-care practices
- Implements self-care practices proactively

Attitudes

• Aware of one's own potential vulnerabilities and recognizes the signs that one may be becoming overwhelmed





Competency standard 1: Promotes self-care by individuals, caregivers, families and their communities

Health literacy

Health literacy is defined in the Glossary, and it encompasses health systems literacy as well as functional literacy and numeracy. See also the explanatory notes in Chapter 3 of the volume on the competency standards *(1)*.

Health systems literacy

Health systems literacy refers to the ability to understand how health systems work. People using self-care interventions are often engaged with multiple elements of the health system. They may access some treatments or tests from primary care clinics, pharmacies, civil society organizations, retail outlets or online. The services may be subsidized by government, health insurance packages or be provided free in some areas and/or require full or partial out-of-pocket payments. Self-care interventions administered by individuals or caregivers at home may be initiated in hospitals; for example, in palliative care, stepdown psychiatric care, or home-based rehabilitation after a stroke or an orthopaedic procedure. Other self-care interventions may be part of an oscillating engagement process with secondary- and tertiary-level health care; for example, for people with chronic renal failure undertaking home dialysis. Health and care workers should ensure that individuals have a clear understanding of how health systems work in general, and how they operate in relation to the particular self-care intervention.

Functional literacy

Literacy is the ability to understand and use information from written texts in a variety of contexts to achieve goals and develop knowledge and potential *(9)*. Functional literacy refers to the possession of basic skills in reading and writing sufficient to function effectively in everyday situations *(10)*. An individual's level of literacy matters for self-care as information about the tools, the techniques and the rationales for the interventions are often provided in written form, and increasingly online or in other text messages.

Surveys that were undertaken across 39 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries by the Program for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) have found that on average nearly one fifth of adults perform at, or below, Level 1 in literacy (9), with Level 2 generally being considered to equate with functional literacy (11). At Level 1, the reader can make sense of brief texts on familiar topics to locate a single piece of information, using basic vocabulary knowledge, but would not be able to extract meaning from written material with competing information or in a long continuous narrative form, and would struggle with extracting meaning from written information found online. A great deal of consumer health information is conveyed in written form that would be challenging for someone with Level 1 literacy. The PIAAC surveys found substantial differences in the distribution of literacy within many countries, but overall older adults had lower levels of literacy *(11)*, with no gender difference.

Functional numeracy

Numeracy is the ability to use mathematics in a wide range of situations to meet one's goals and develop one's capability and potential (9). Functional numeracy refers to having basic skills in mathematics that enable one to function effectively (10). Functional numeracy is important for all self-care interventions that require mathematical calculations; for example, to calibrate medication doses.

Functional numeracy, like functional literacy, is set at PIAAC Level 2 (9,10). At Level 2, a person should be able to perform two-step calculations (such as calculating percentages and fractions) and should be able to perform estimates, and understand graphs and other visual representations. The PIAAC surveys found that nearly one fifth of adults overall do not have functional numeracy, and in some countries close to half do not have functional numeracy (11). Functional numeracy levels are lower among older adults, and older women in particular, reflecting their lack of experience with labour markets that require some functional numeracy.



Competency standard 2: Provides people-centred support for self-care by individuals, caregivers and families

Multimorbidity and self-care

Self-management programmes for people with chronic diseases typically focus on strategies and tools for one illness (12,13). However most chronic illnesses occur in clusters, referred to as multimorbidity. Examples of clusters include: diabetes, cardiovascular disease and

arthritis; or diabetes, hypothyroidism and renal disease; and any combination of these with depression or anxiety. People with multimorbidity often have to prioritize one disease as dominant and others as secondary or tertiary conditions (14), reflecting the relative impact of the diseases on their daily lives, or the costs and availability of treatments for different illnesses. People with chronic illnesses have learned to recognize bodily cues and they generally respond to them multiple times a day (12). These everyday decisions occur separately to the overt disease-management decisions, which are often the subject of clinician-patient

interactions, and are particularly complex when multiple diseases are layered. In supporting people's self-care, health and care workers should seek to understand the patterns and constraints of everyday decision-making, particularly in the context of multimorbidity.



Competency standard 3: Takes an adaptive and collaborative approach to decision-making about self-care by individuals

Safety-netting

The concept of "safety netting" is widely used across health professional education, referring to a way to manage risk when outcomes may be uncertain. This concept has particular relevance to shared decisionmaking about self-care interventions. At its core, it is based on the ethical requirement to provide sound advice to a person about what to do if things do not go as expected. For example, in self-management, the person needs to know when to seek urgent help for any changes in their condition. Often safety netting can involve a complex description of possibilities, with different actions depending on the urgency or nature of the individual's situation.

Nevertheless, there is good evidence in the medical education literature that teaching health workers concepts around safety netting with patients reduces adverse outcomes (*15*).

Tools and resources to support self-care

A vast range of self-management support apps, online resources and printed or web-based toolkits are designed to assist health workers in having conversations with and supporting individuals at home to continue towards their health and self-care goals. Many of the resources include basic information to be discussed with individuals, and practical tips to help them find further details about their condition or access support for its management.

There is an emerging set of tools and resources designed for use by individuals to support their own self-care using mobile health (mHealth) apps on smartphones. These have the potential to improve health outcomes among those living with chronic diseases through enhanced symptom control. These apps tend to focus on single diseases, rather than multimorbid illnesses (*16*). Further innovation, optimization and rigorous research around apps and mHealth technologies will improve self-care outcomes (*17*).



Competency standard 4: Communicates effectively with individuals, caregivers and families

Motivational interviewing

Motivational interviewing (MI) is a patient-centred, collaborative counselling approach to activate and facilitate health behaviour change used for specific behavioural lifestyle changes and to enhance selfmanagement for conditions ranging from chronic pain to psychological health *(18,19)*. MI involves a series of steps that focus conversations on the self-carer and what they are keen to do, rather than the health or

22 ☰

care worker imparting advice. In MI, the self-carer is positioned as responsible for their health and is the expert on how they will undertake their self-management. The conversation involves enhancing motivation through exploring ambivalence(s), reinforcing that the self-carer is the expert about themselves, helping them to identify their reasons for wanting to make a change, and honouring their autonomy. MI only works if it is genuine, respectful and authentic. Educating health professionals about MI is most successful if done in the context of a reflective and interactive workshop, as it involves developing a set of skills that require practice, role modelling and simulation (20).

Self-efficacy

Self-efficacy is regarded in learning and cognitive theory as an intervening mental state between knowledge acquisition and behaviour (21,22). Self-efficacy in health care refers to an individual's belief and confidence in their knowledge, skills and ability and their sense of control over the actions necessary to manage their health and long-term health conditions (23). The health or care worker requires the communication skills to have a conversation with the individual, supporting them to feel able to take a more active role in managing their own health. Such discussions may involve individuals needing to undertake specific new lifestyle behaviours or to monitor their condition(s) using new strategies and tools.

Stages of change model of behaviour change

The stages of change model (also known as the transtheoretical model, or TTM) posits that changes in behaviour tend to occur in stages: pre-contemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, maintenance, relapse, and termination (24). There may be sub-loops in the process, with moves between maintenance and relapse being common with some conditions. The process may or may not include the termination stage, depending on whether the behavioural change needs to be continued for a specific duration or indefinitely (lifelong). The stages of change model has been very influential in health promotion. However, it has attracted some criticism for its lack of consideration of social context and for being based on the assumption that individuals make coherent and logical choices when making decisions.

Nevertheless, the stages of change model is helpful for health and care workers and self-carers engaged in consultations involving shared decision-making.

Teach-back

The teach-back method involves the health or care worker explicitly asking the individual to explain back to them in their own words the planned course of action, including how and when to take any medication prescribed. Teach-back helps clarify how the management plan articulated by the health or care worker was understood by the individual (25), and hence how successful the health or care worker's communication approach is. Systematic reviews of teach-back have focused on the implementation and use challenges, most of which reflect factors on the side of the health worker, such as inconsistent use, overly technical language, and failure to appreciate the individual's level of literacy and numeracy (26). For self-care, teach-back is a crucial strategy, as is the reverse version of it, where an informed individual first states their self-care plans and then asks the health or care worker to explain it back to them, to confirm that they have understood their plan.

Paced instruction

Paced instruction in health communication is a knowledge-building strategy that involves the intentional provision of small amounts of information over time, to ensure understanding by the individual, usually supported with teach-back (see above). The technique has been characterized as "chunk and check" (27). It draws on the cognitive theory of "learning by chunking", which states that breaking information into meaningful groups reduces the load on working memory, and facilitates recall and organization into increasingly complex sets of information (28). Health and care workers supporting individuals with their self-care may find this strategy particularly useful when engaging in conversations about illnesses or self-management approaches about which the individual has little prior knowledge or experience.

23 🗏



Competency standard 5: Collaborates with other health and care workers and community workers to support self-care

Social prescribing

Social prescribing describes the interaction between the health worker and the individual during which they identify together the types of social activities that are likely to enhance their well-being and support their selfcare goals *(29)*. Examples of such activities include group gardening or sports, or classes/workshops in art, cookery or other subjects. These services are local and often provided by voluntary or community-based organizations. The health worker writes a "prescription" for group activities at a community service or refers the individual to an intermediary, such as a link worker or volunteer, who can help the person choose one or more activities and/or even accompany them to the activity in the first instance, if desired. Social prescribing networks aim to support people's practical, social or emotional needs in a person-centred way while encouraging self-care. Successful social prescribing requires the health worker to have good communication skills and knowledge of community resources.



Competency standard 6: Promotes trust, agency and collaboration among individuals, caregivers and families with regard to self-care

Supporting individuals' social networks for self-care

The ability of an individual to manage their own selfcare is often influenced by the strength and flexibility of their social and/or family networks (*30,31*). Being part of a supportive and flexible social and/or family network has been shown to reduce the risk of readmission for individuals with chronic psychiatric illnesses (*32*) or neurological illnesses (*33*), and to reduce the progression of dementia (*34*). However, many individuals with complex illnesses may have limited social networks, and overburdened, inflexible family networks (*31*).

Using an interactive visual method, such as the concentric circles tool, can help individuals to describe their self-care networks and identify any gaps (*35*). Health and care workers can then help to strengthen an individual's self-care networks by working with them in the following ways.

- Increase the size of the self-care network by identifying and reconnecting with previous members of the individual's social network who have disengaged, or by identifying new people in the individual's social world who may be able to become part of their self-care network.
- Increase the multiplexity of the relationships in the self-care network, by encouraging members of the social or family network who have previously only provided some form of support to begin providing another form of support (e.g. transport, or helping to ensure that doses of medicine are not missed).
- Increase the stability of the self-care network by encouraging members of the individual's social or family network to establish relationships with one another; for example, by encouraging the individual to introduce family members to friends or workmates who are part of their social support network (31).

24 🗏

Promoting the knowledge and agency of caregivers and families

Due to advances in health technology and increases in life expectancy, families and caregivers may support the self-care of individuals with complex illnesses for decades. Despite their commitment to care, health and care workers frequently communicate only with the individual, or one caregiver, resulting in gaps in knowledge dissemination within the individual's caregiving network (36). Young caregivers are particularly likely to report being excluded from health-care conversations (37).

In general, health and care workers can assist caregivers and families by:

- providing referrals to support services for caregivers, including online support communities;
- including the caregiver(s) in the consultation, recognizing that the family caregiver in the consultation may also act as the messenger for other family members about the care plan (providing the plan in writing may assist caregivers in disseminating the plan as needed);
- regularly assessing the physical and mental health of caregivers and family members.

Training in problem-solving can help to support the competence and confidence of family members and

caregivers in their role of helping the individual with specific issues and self-care interventions. Through this training, caregivers steadily gain competence and confidence through successfully solving a range of day-to-day care-related problems (38). This approach has been been successful when implemented over time for some conditions (39). For example, caregivers supporting individuals with dementia with night-time insomnia reduced both the individual's and their own sleep deprivation through a programme of daily walks and exposure to light (40). Family caregivers of individuals with severe disabilities who received individualized problemsolving support for one year improved their ability to constructively solve problems related to health care, with both care recipients and caregivers reporting a decrease in depression over time (41).

Health and care workers may incorporate problemsolving training into short consultations, working through a three-stage programme for addressing problems: identify a solution, implement it, and assess the outcome *(42)*. Challenges may arise if health or care workers fail to appreciate the dimensions of the problems the caregiver faces, or if they do not allow time to review outcomes and develop new solutions, or if the health literacy of the caregiver and care-recipient needs development.



Competency standard 7: Supports evidence-informed self-care practice by individuals, caregivers and families

Narrative accounts of people's experiences

People's accounts of their experiences with health condition(s) and any related treatments or interventions can be valuable for a health or care worker who is learning about how to support people's decision-making about self-care (43). To avoid the risk of accessing misinformation when seeking such accounts online,

reputable databases and websites should be sought. The databases of narratives collated under the Database of Individual Patients' Experiences (DIPEx)¹ umbrella in 13 countries, all following the framework pioneered by healthtalk.org, are examples of reputable and trustworthy sources of narratives about people's experiences of illness and health care (43).

¹ Further information available at: https://dipexinternational.org/

Digital health literacy

Digital health literacy comprises four levels of competence:

- Functional competence: the ability to read and write about health using electronic/digital devices, including mobile devices.
- Communicative competence: the ability to use social online environments with multimedia to collaborate (e.g. set up a Facebook group for a particular purpose), adapt (e.g. create memes, voiceover content) and control (e.g. block or control the flow of information to other users).
- Critical competence: the ability to evaluate the relevance and reliability of health-related information

online and in other digital formats, and the risks of sharing and receiving such information digitally.

• **Translational competence:** the ability to apply digital health information in different contexts (44).

To capitalize on digital approaches to promoting evidence-informed self-care, health workers will need to assess people's digital health literacy, especially their critical and translational abilities. The validated eHealth Literacy Scale (eHEALS) is a simple tool to assess a person's perception of their own level of digital health literacy (45). This scale does not assess a person's actual digital health literacy skills; a person may be confident of their critical digital health literacy and still be subject to misinformation online (46).



Competency standard 8: Demonstrates high standards of ethical conduct

Ethical dilemmas related to self-care in institutions and health-care systems

Ethical dilemmas in supporting self-care can arise for health workers when balancing competing norms and values, such as an individual's dignity and autonomy against safety and evidence-based care (47). The competing norms and values may be held by the legal or regulatory system and the health worker, the health-care institution and the health worker, or the health worker and the individual they are treating.

Bureaucratic norms and values related to funding can be particularly demanding for health workers. For example, an institution's model of postpartum care may include resourcing constraints that lead to standard procedures that require health workers to compromise on the care they provide to women, such as not being able to provide the most appropriate and/or the preferred contraceptive method. Legal constraints to some self-care interventions, such as the State's criminalization of medical abortion, may also pose an ethical and moral dilemma for health workers. These ethical dilemmas can be challenging for health workers who are not experienced at reasoning through such situations, and can lead to health workers feeling moral distress (48). An ethical dilemma demands of the health worker that they make the right decision in a difficult situation, but also that they can justify their decision (49). Discussion with a reflective peer can help health workers with their decision-making in the face of complex ethical dilemmas.

26 📃



Competency standard 9: Undertakes reflective learning and practice about self-care

Recognizing one's own cultural and social perspectives

Health and care workers should devote some time to understanding their own cultural and social perspectives on self-care and caregivers. The predominance of women among caregivers may strike some health and care workers as a natural, rather than as a social or cultural phenomenon (50). Health and care workers may harbour views - driven by medical culture and their training - on the conditions that are suitable for self-care. For example, home-based peritoneal dialysis for end-stage renal failure can be managed by self-carers or caregivers. However, its rate of use worldwide is significantly lower than the rate of use of haemodialysis (51), despite it being recommended in guidelines (52). This is due in part to the preference by nephrologists in many countries for institution-based haemodialysis, reflecting their own experience and institutional practices (53).

Cultural competency training, which aims to improve the ability of health and care workers to appreciate and respond to cultural diversity, is widely delivered through workshops as part of undergraduate or vocational training. It has been critiqued for essentializing culture (i.e. the view that people from a particular culture all have certain attributes and behaviours that are in their nature) and for not allowing sufficient time for reflective learning (54). A more productive way for clinicians to learn about their own cultural and social biases may involve perspective-taking and reflexivity (see Glossary and notes below) (55). These require health and care workers to maintain an attitude of respectful curiosity towards other cultures, while at the same time reviewing their own cultural and social perspectives.

Reflexivity

Reflexivity refers to our ability to reflect on the impacts of our background and assumptions on the development of taken-for-granted knowledge (55). It differs from reflective practice, which requires health and care workers to consider a situation that has occurred, whether positive or negative, and make sense of it by examining their role, what they could have done differently and what changes they may make to their practice in the future (56).

Reflexivity is a skill practitioners use to adjust their approaches or preconceptions, while reflective practice occurs after the event (56). Approaches to health and health service delivery – including self-care interventions – may be influenced by a person's culture and beliefs, as well as unconscious bias and institutional discrimination.



Competency standard 10: Manages own health and well-being

Becoming overwhelmed

Burnout is a work-related stress syndrome marked by emotional exhaustion, cynicism and depersonalization, and reduced professional effectiveness and personal accomplishment (57). Burnout can occur in any profession, but health and care workers seem to be at particular risk (58). Burnout can have an impact on the personal well-being of clinicians, as well as the quality of their professional work (59). As part of their own selfcare, health and care workers should be aware of the early signs of burnout: feelings of exhaustion, cynicism or emotional detachment, a sense of one's work as meaningless or useless, and stopping activities in one's personal life that one had previously enjoyed. As it is an occupational syndrome, approaches to burnout generally involve a combination of workplace initiatives, such as managing required hours of work, showing workers they are valued, and providing support after critical incidents, and personal self-care initiatives, including exercise, self-reflection and seeking support from peers and family members *(60)*.

Resilience

Resilience refers to the ability to maintain mental health despite exposure to physical and psychological adversity. Psychological resilience is the product of ongoing adaptation to difficult experiences, through a process of behavioural, emotional and mental accommodation and adaptation to stressors *(61)*. The attitudinal and situational factors that promote resilience may protect health and care workers from burnout. For example, health workers who worked in the hospitals of a country highly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic were more likely to experience burnout if they had low levels of tolerance for uncertainty; using emotional strategies that enabled them to stay in a high-stress environment without needing to control it seemed to protect them from burnout *(62).* In another study, the factors that enabled health workers to continue working in complex, challenging primary care settings were curiosity and respect for the patient population, intellectual engagement with their work, and the ability to control their own working hours *(63).*



References

- Self-care competency framework. Volume 1. Global competency standards for health and care workers to support people's self-care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023.
- Global competency framework for universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352710).
- Self-care competency framework. Volume .3. Curriculum guide for health and care workers to support people's self-care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023.
- WHO guideline on self-care interventions for health and well-being, 2022 revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/357828</u>).
- Narasimhan M, Allotey P, Hardon A. Self care interventions to advance health and wellbeing: a conceptual framework to inform normative guidance. BMJ. 2019;365:I688. doi:10.1136/bmj.I688.
- Classification of self-care interventions for health: a shared language to describe the uses of self-care interventions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/350480).
- Narasimhan M, Aujila M, Van Lerberghe W. Self-care interventions and practices as essential approaches to strengthening health-care delivery. Lancet. 2023;11(1):e21–2. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00451-X.
- WHO consolidated guideline on self-care interventions for health: sexual and reproductive health and rights. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/325480</u>).
- Literacy, numeracy and problem solving in technology-rich environments: framework for the OECD Survey of Adult Skills. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Publishing; 2012. doi:10.1787/9789264128859-en.
- UNESCO Institute for Statistics. SDG Indicator Metadata. May 2021 (<u>https://tcg.uis.unesco.org/wpcontent/uploads/sites/4/2020/08/Metadata-4.6.1.pdf</u>, accessed 4 December 2022).
- Skills matter: additional results from the Survey of Adult Skills. OECD Skills Studies. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Publishing; 2019. doi:10.1787/1f029d8f-en.
- 12. Thorne S, Paterson B, Russell C. The structure

of everyday self-care decision making in chronic illness. Qual Health Res. 2003;13(10):1337–52. doi:10.1177/1049732303258039.

- Paterson B, Thorne S, Crawford J, Tarko M. Living with Diabetes as a Transformational Experience. Qualitative Health Research. 1999;9(6):786-802. doi:10.1177/104973299129122289.
- Bratzke LC, Muehrer RJ, Kehl KA, Lee KS, Ward EC, Kwekkeboom KL. Self-management priority setting and decision-making in adults with multimorbidity: a narrative review of literature. Int J Nurs Stud. 2015;52(3):744–55. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.10.010.
- Jones D, Dunn L, Watt I, Macleod U. Safety netting for primary care: evidence from a literature review. Br J Gen Pract. 2019;69(678):e70–9. doi:10.3399/ bjgp18X700193.
- Dineen-Griffin S, Garcia-Cardenas V, Williams K, Benrimoj SI. Helping patients help themselves: a systematic review of self-management support strategies in primary health care practice. PLoS One. 2019;14(8):e0220116. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0220116.
- Whitehead L, Seaton P. The effectiveness of selfmanagement mobile phone and tablet apps in longterm condition management: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res. 2016;18(5):e97. doi:10.2196/ jmir.4883.
- Rubak S, Sandbæk A, Lauritzen T, Christensen B. Motivational interviewing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Gen Pract. 2005;55(513):305–12.
- Van Buskirk KA, Wetherell JL. Motivational interviewing with primary care populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Behav Med. 2014;37(4):768–80. doi:10.1007/s10865-013-9527-4.
- 20. Kaltman S, Tankersley A. Teaching motivational interviewing to medical students: a systematic review. Acad Med. 2020;95(3):458–69. doi:10.1097/ ACM.0000000000003011.
- 21. Schwarzer R. Self-regulatory processes in the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. J Health Psychol. 1999;4(2):115–27. doi:10.1177/135910539900400208.
- Rosenstock IM, Strecher VJ, Becker MH.
 Social learning theory and the health belief model. Health Educ Behav. 1988;15(2):175–83.

doi:10.1177/109019818801500203.

- 23. Lee LL, Arthur A, Avis M. Using self-efficacy theory to develop interventions that help older people overcome psychological barriers to physical activity: a discussion paper. Int J Nurs Stud. 2008;45(11):1690–9. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2008.02.012.
- Prochaska JO, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. Am J Health Promot. 1997;12(1):38–48. doi:10.4278/0890-1171-12.1.38.
- 25. Health literacy: taking action to improve safety and quality. Sydney: Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care; 2014 (<u>https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/publications-and-resources/resource-library/health-literacy-taking-action-improve-safety-and-quality</u>).
- Talevski J, Wong Shee A, Rasmussen B, Kemp G, Beauchamp A. Teach-back: a systematic review of implementation and impacts. PLoS One. 2020;15(4):e0231350. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0231350.
- Brega AG, Barnard J, Mabachi NM, DeWalt DA, Brach C, Cifuentes M, et al. AHRQ Health Literacy Universal Precautions Toolkit, second edition. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2015 (https://www.ahrq.gov/health-literacy/improve/ precautions/index.html).
- Gobet F, Lane PC, Croker S, Cheng PC, Jones G, Oliver I, et al. Chunking mechanisms in human learning. Trends Cogn Sci. 2001;5(6):235–43. doi:10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01662-4.
- 29. Toolkit on how to implement social prescribing. Manila: World Health Organization Regional Office for the Western Pacific; 2022 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/</u> <u>handle/10665/354456</u>).
- Smith KP, Christakis NA. Social networks and health. Ann Rev Sociol. 2008; 34(1):405–29. doi:10.1146/ annurev.soc.34.040507.134601.
- Morin RC, Seidman E. A social network approach and the revolving door patient. Schizophr Bull. 1986;12(2):262–73. doi:10.1093/schbul/12.2.262.
- Albert M, Becker T, McCrone P, Thornicroft G. Social networks and mental health service utilisation – a literature review. Int J Soc Psychiatry. 1998;44(4):24866. doi:10.1177/002076409804400402.
- Dhand A, Luke DA, Lang CE, Lee J-M. Social networks and neurological illness. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016;12:605–12. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2016.119.
- Sawyer JM, Sallnow L, Kupeli N, Stone P, Sampson EL. Social networks, social capital and end-of-life care for people with dementia: a realist review. BMJ Open. 2019;9:e030703. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030703.

- Kennedy A, Vassilev I, James E, Rogers A. Implementing a social network intervention designed to enhance and diversify support for people with longterm conditions: a qualitative study. Implement Sci. 2016;29(11):27. doi:10.1186/s13012-016-0384-8.
- Laidsaar-Powell R, Butow P, Bu S, Fisher A, Juraskova I. Attitudes and experiences of family involvement in cancer consultations: a qualitative exploration of patient and family member perspectives. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24:4131–40. doi:10.1007/s00520-016-3237-8.
- Parkinson A, Desborough J, Drew J, Fanning V, Chisholm K, Leayr J, et al. Intertwined like a double helix: a meta-synthesis of the qualitative literature examining the experiences of living with someone with multiple sclerosis. Health Expect. 2022;5(3):803–22. doi:10.1111/hex.13432.
- Houts PS, Nezu AM, Nezu CM, Bucher JA. The prepared family caregiver: a problem-solving approach to family caregiver education. Patient Educ Couns. 1996;27:63–73. doi:10.1016/0738-3991(95)00790-3.
- Aksoydan E, Aytar A, Blazeviciene A, Van Bruchem-Visser RL, Vaskelyte A, Mattace-Raso F, et al. Is training for informal caregivers and their older persons helpful? A systematic review. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2019;83:66–74. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2019.02.006.
- McCurry SM, Pike KC, Vitiello MV, Logsdon RG, Larson EB, Teri L. Increasing walking and bright light exposure to improve sleep in communitydwelling persons with Alzheimer's disease: results of a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2011;59(8):1393–1402. doi/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03519.x.
- Berry JW, Elliott TR, Grant JS, Edwards G, Fine PR. Does problem-solving training for family caregivers benefit their care recipients with severe disabilities? A latent growth model of the Project CLUES randomized clinical trial. Rehabil Psychol. 2012;57(2):98–112. doi:10.1037/a0028229.
- D'Zurilla T, Nezu A. Social problem solving in adults.
 In: Kendall P, editor. Advances in cognitive-behavioural research and therapy. New York (NY): Academic Press; 1982:201–74.
- Davies L, LeClair KL, Bagley P, Blunt H, Hinton L, Ryan S, et al. Face-to-face compared with online collected accounts of health and illness experiences: a scoping review. Qual Health Res. 2020;30(13):2092–102. doi:10.1177/1049732320935835.
- 44. Paige SR, Stellefson M, Krieger JL, Anderson-Lewis C, Cheong J, Stopka C. Proposing a transactional model of eHealth literacy: concept analysis. J Med Internet

30 ☰

Res. 2018;20(10):e10175. doi:10.2196/10175.

- 45. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHEALS: The eHealth Literacy Scale. J Med Internet Res. 2006;8(4):e27. doi:10.2196/jmir.8.4.e27.
- Suarez-Lledo V, Alvarez-Galvez J. Prevalence of health misinformation on social media: systematic review. J Med Internet Res. 2021;23(1):e17187. doi:10.2196/17187.
- Holm AL, Severinsson E. Reflections on the ethical dilemmas involved in promoting selfmanagement. Nurs Ethics. 2014;21(4):402–13. doi:10.1177/0969733013500806.
- Kälvemark S, Höglund AT, Hansson MG, Westerholm P, Arnetz B. Living with conflicts – ethical dilemmas and moral distress in the health care system. Soc Sci Med. 2004;58(6):1075–84. doi:10.1016/s0277-9536(03)00279-x.
- Sporrong SK, Höglund AT, Hansson MG, Westerholm P, Arnetz B. "We are white coats whirling round" – moral distress in Swedish pharmacies. Pharm World Sci. 2005;27:223–9. doi:10.1007/s11096-004-3703-0.
- Morris M. Gender-sensitive home and community care and caregiving research: a synthesis paper. Vancouver: Centres of Excellence for Women's Health; 2001 (<u>http://www.womenandhealthcarereform.ca/</u> <u>publications/synthesis.pdf</u>).
- 51. Bello AK, Okpechi IG, Levin A, Ye F, Saad S, Zaidi D, et al. ISN–Global Kidney Health Atlas: A report by the International Society of Nephrology: an assessment of global kidney health care status focussing on capacity, availability, accessibility, affordability and outcomes of kidney disease. Belgium: International Society of Nephrology; 2023 (https://www.theisn.org/ initiatives/global-kidney-health-atlas/, accessed 20 May 2023).
- Brown EA, Blake PG, Boudville N, Davies S, de Arteaga J, Dong J, et al. International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis practice recommendations: prescribing high-quality goal-directed peritoneal dialysis. Perit Dial Int. 2020;40(3):244–53. doi:10.1177/0896860819895364.
- Brown EA, Ekstrand A, Gallieni M, Rivera Gorrín M, Gudmundsdottir H, Mahlo Guede A. Availability of assisted peritoneal dialysis in Europe: call for increased and equal access. Nephrol Dial Transpl. 2022;37(11):2080–89. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfac193.

- 54. Shepherd SM. Cultural awareness workshops: limitations and practical consequences. BMC Med Educ. 2019;19:14. doi:10.1186/s12909-018-1450-5.
- 55. Dawson J, Laccos-Barrett K, Hammond C, Rumbold A. Reflexive practice as an approach to improve healthcare delivery for Indigenous peoples: a systematic critical synthesis and exploration of the cultural safety education literature. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022;19(11):6691. doi:10.3390/ ijerph19116691.
- Maslach C, Leiter MP. Understanding the burnout experience: recent research and its implications for psychiatry. World Psychiatry. 2016;15:103–11. doi:10.1002/wps.20311.
- 57. Maslach C, Schaufeli WB, Leiter MP. Job burnout. Annu Rev Psychol. 2001;52:397–422. doi:10.1146/ annurev.psych.52.1.39711148311.
- Felton JS. Burnout as a clinical entity: its importance in health care workers. Occup Med. 1998;48(4):238– 50. doi:10.1093/occmed/48.4.237.
- 59. Pérez-Francisco DH, Duarte-Clíments G, del Rosario-Melián JM, GómezSalgado J, Romero-Martín M, Sánchez-Gómez MB. Influence of workload on primary care nurses' health and burnout, patients' safety, and quality of care: integrative review. Healthcare 2020;8:12. doi:0.3390/healthcare8010012.
- West CP, Dyrbye LN, Erwin PJ, Shanafelt TD. Interventions to prevent and reduce physician burnout: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2016;388:2272–81. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31279-X27692469.
- Fletcher D, Sarkar M. Psychological resilience: a review and critique of definitions, concepts, and theory. Eur Psychol. 2013;18(1):12–23. doi:10.1027/1016-9040/a000124.
- Di Trani M, Mariani R, Ferri R, De Berardinis B, Frigo MG. From resilience to burnout in healthcare workers during the COVID-19 emergency: the role of the ability to tolerate uncertainty. Front Psychol. 2021;12. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.646435.
- Stevenson AD, Phillips CB, Anderson KJ. Resilience among doctors who work in challenging areas: a qualitative study. Br J Gen Pract. 2011;61(588):e404– e410. doi:10.3399/bjgp11X583182.

Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research

UNDP-UNFPA-UNICEF-WHO-World Bank Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction (HRP)

World Health Organization Avenue Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

reproductivehealth@who.int selfcare@who.int who.int/teams/sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-research www.who.int/health-topics/self-care

